

Menopause support

A complete guide for a healthy transition



Table of contents

1 What is menopause?

1 Stages of menopause

- 2 Perimenopause
- 2 Menopause
- 3 Post-menopause
- 3 Early or premature menopause

4 Signs and symptoms of menopause

6 Potential complications of menopause

- 6 Heart disease
- 7 Osteoarthritis
- 7 Urinary incontinence
- 7 Oral issues

8 How to feel your best during menopause

- 8 Diet
- **10** Exercise
- **11** Sleep hygiene
- **12** Mental health and stress management
- 13 Sexual health

14 Hormone replacement therapy

15 Tips and resources for success

- 15 Lifestyle tips for addressing hot flashes
- **16** Frequently asked questions (FAQs)

19 Appendix: Menopause resources

- **19** Grocery shopping list
- **19** Sleep diary
- **19** Helpful apps
- **20** References

What is menopause?

Menopause is a natural biological phase in a menstruating person's life marked by the cessation (end) of menstrual periods. When a menstruating person goes through menopause, their bodies produce less of the hormones estrogen and progesterone. Their ovaries also no longer release eggs, which means they can no longer become pregnant. Menopause is considered complete after 12 consecutive months without a menstrual period.

Stages of menopause

The menopausal transition includes three main stages: perimenopause, menopause, and post-menopause. Some individuals may experience menopause earlier than expected, known as early or premature menopause.



Perimenopause

Perimenopause refers to the transition to menopause and a person's last menstrual period. This transition can last two to eight years and usually begins during a menstruating person's late forties. There are two stages of perimenopause: the early transition and the late transition. The early transition is characterized by menstrual cycles with few irregularities or interruptions, and the late transition involves periods of 60 days or more when there's an absence of menstruation.

Menopause

Menopause officially occurs after 12 consecutive months of having no menstrual period, at which time the person stops having periods permanently. This is a natural and expected part of a menstruating person's life. During perimenopause, the body begins producing less of the hormones estrogen and progesterone, and once menopause occurs, these hormones decline even further. In the United States, the average age at which people experience menopause is 52, but the transition commonly occurs between the ages of 45 to 58 years old.



The age that your biological mother went through menopause may be a clue that you'll experience it around the same time.

Post-menopause

Post-menopause, which refers to the period after menopause, is characterized by the absence of menstruation and the inability to become pregnant. Although the body no longer menstruates during this time, menopausal symptoms such as hot flashes, trouble sleeping, and vaginal dryness may persist. Low estrogen and progesterone levels may also be associated with certain health risks during this time, such as osteoporosis, stroke, and heart disease.

If you experience vaginal bleeding post-menopause, speak with your healthcare provider right away. This could be a sign of a serious health problem and is not typical during this stage.

Early or premature menopause

For some menstruating people, menopause occurs earlier than average. If menopause occurs before the age of 40, it's considered premature menopause, and if it occurs between the ages of 40 to 45, it's considered early menopause. Menstruating people who were never pregnant may experience menopause earlier than people who were pregnant more than once.

Early or premature menopause can occur also occur as a result of certain surgeries, health conditions, or medications. The following reasons may contribute to early or premature menopause:

- Certain cancer treatments (e.g., chemotherapy or pelvic radiation)
- Certain health conditions (e.g., thyroid disease, rheumatoid arthritis, HIV and AIDS, chronic fatigue syndrome)
- Family history of early or premature menopause
- Missing chromosomes (e.g., Turner's syndrome)
- Surgery to remove the ovaries
- Surgery to remove the uterus

Individuals who experience premature or early menopause usually experience the same symptoms as those who go through menopause. However, because these individuals will experience the post-menopause stage for longer, they may have a higher risk of certain health conditions associated with post-menopause such as heart disease or osteoporosis. They may also experience more intense menopausal symptoms in general, such as feelings of depression related to the early onset of these bodily changes.

Signs and symptoms of menopause

Everyone experiences menopause differently, and symptoms of menopause may vary from person to person. A number of factors may influence the type and severity of symptoms experienced, including:

- Activity level
- Body mass index (BMI)
- Ethnicity
- Geographic location

- History of anxiety and depression
- Medications
- Medical history
- Smoking status



Did you know?

Menopausal hot flashes can be triggered by things like spicy food, alcohol, caffeine, a hot environment, or stress. Tracking your daily habits and hot flashes can help you figure out what triggers them and help prevent them in the future.

Vasomotor (temperature dysfunction), urogenital (affecting the urinary and genital tracts), and mental health-related symptoms are the most common types of symptoms that individuals experience during menopause. Specifically, possible signs and symptoms of menopause include:

- Changes in menstrual periods
- Changes in arousal, decreased interest in sex (libido), and/or difficulty achieving orgasms
- Difficulty maintaining bladder control
- Headaches or migraines
- Hot flashes
- Insomnia and sleep disturbances

- Irregular heart beat
- Joint pain
- Mood changes
- Night sweats
- Pain during sex
- Skin flushing
- Vaginal dryness
- Weight gain

Common menopausal symptoms



Changes in libido



Depression and anxiety



Hot flashes



Irregular periods or bleeding



Memory problems



Mood changes



Urinary problems (e.g., infection, urinary incontinence)



Trouble sleeping





Vaginal problems (e.g., infection, vaginal dryness)

Potential complications of menopause

During menopause, an individual's hormone levels are changing. As a result, they may be at an increased risk of experiencing certain health conditions or symptoms, such as heart disease, osteoarthritis, urinary incontinence, and oral issues.

Heart disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), also known as heart and blood vessel disease, encompasses different conditions related to the buildup of plague in artery walls or the formation of a clot, hindering or blocking blood flow in the body. CVD is the leading cause of premature death in women in the United States and Canada, and the risk of developing CVD increases after menopause. Although menopause doesn't cause CVD, studies continue to investigate the relationship between the menopausal transition and the associated increased CVD risk.

The following factors may play a role in increasing the risk of CVD.

Menopause age: Compared to women who experience menopause after the age of 45, people who experience menopause before the age of 45 may have an increased risk of developing coronary heart disease (CHD). CHD is a condition in which plaque builds up in the arteries of the heart

Type of menopause: People who have undergone a bilateral oophorectomy (BLO) at an early age (less than 40 to 45 years), a surgery to remove the ovaries, with no accompanying estrogen therapy, may be at higher risk of developing CHD compared to people who experience menopause at an older age or had a BLO at an older age.

Menopause stage: Blood pressure and cholesterol levels may rise more significantly during the late perimenopause and postmenopause stages than during premenopause or early perimenopause.

Estrogen levels: Estrogen is a hormone that helps regulate the menstrual cycle. Estrogen also protects against CHD by regulating cholesterol levels and the buildup of plaque in artery walls of the heart. When estrogen levels decrease during the menopausal transition, an increased risk of developing CHD or a stroke from the build-up of plaque in the arteries is possible. This relationship continues to be studied

Hot flashes, sleep, and depression:

Vasomotor symptoms (e.g., hot flashes and night sweats), poor sleep quality, and depression, have been linked to a higher risk of CVD.

Did you know?

As your bones break down more quickly after menopause, toxins stored in the bones throughout your life, such as lead, may be released into the blood and increase your risk of atherosclerosis, kidney dysfunction, and cognitive dysfunction.

Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA), the most common form of arthritis, causes inflammation and pain as a result of the breakdown of cartilage between joints. OA is more common in people assigned as female at birth, with incidences of hand and knee OA increasing after menopause. It is believed that this is due to estrogen's role in the maintenance of bones and joint tissues. Because the ovaries stop producing estrogen in menopausal and post-menopausal individuals, this can make them more susceptible to osteoarthritis during and after menopause.

Urinary incontinence

A decrease in estrogen levels may weaken the urethra (the tube that allows urine to pass out of the body) and contribute to urinary incontinence. Urinary incontinence is the loss of bladder control, causing urine to involuntarily leak. It is a common issue; about half of postmenopausal people in North America report having trouble holding in their urine.

Oral issues

Changes in hormone levels during and after the menopausal transition may lead to oral issues such as pain and inflammation of the gums (gingivitis), an increased risk of cavities, and a decrease in saliva production which can lead to a dry mouth and cavities.

How to feel your best during menopause

The menopausal transition will feel different to each person. Some may have a positive and uplifting experience as they enter this new life stage, and others may struggle with many of the new and often challenging symptoms. Maintaining a healthy diet, exercising regularly, getting adequate sleep, supporting your mental health, taking hormone therapy (for some), and maintaining sexual health are strategies that can help you feel your best during menopause.



Diet

During the menopausal transition, maintaining a healthy, balanced diet is important and may help you feel better both physically and emotionally. Adequate nutrition is necessary for maintaining various bodily functions, including energy production, tissue formation, cognitive function, and immune function. A healthy diet provides adequate energy (calories) and essential nutrients to maintain optimal health.

Studies evaluating diet quality as it relates to menopause indicate an association between a higher intake of vegetables, unprocessed foods, and whole grains, and a lower intensity of sleep disorders as well as mood changes, hot flashes, bladder issues, and physical symptoms such as pain during menopause. Intake of highly processed foods (e.g., fast food, convenience foods), saturated fats (e.g., red meat, butter), and sugars had also been associated with increased intensity of these symptoms.

Based on your individual needs, your practitioner may also recommend a specific type of diet.

The following image shows an example of a healthy diet based on the USDA's Dietary Guidelines for Americans. You can use this to build a balanced meal that includes all necessary food groups. Refer to the Appendix section for a grocery list to help guide healthy choices when shopping for food.

Dietary Guidelines for Americans: MyPlate





Did you know?

Alternative therapies performed by a qualified healthcare provider, such as acupuncture or massage therapy, are safe and may help reduce the intensity of hot flashes. However, more research is needed to substantiate these claims.

Exercise

Engaging in regular exercise can help prevent various chronic conditions and maintain muscle and bone mass as well as general strength. Participating in regular exercise can help you manage the physical and psychological changes that occur during menopause. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services recommends that adults and older adults do at least 150 minutes of physical activity per week, spread throughout the week. For example, you could exercise 30 minutes per day, five days per week.

Types of exercise that may be helpful for menopausal and post-menopausal individuals include:

- Aerobic exercise (e.g., brisk walking, hiking, biking)
- Balance exercises (e.g., single leg stands, squats, yoga)
- Resistance exercises (e.g., body weight exercises, banded exercises, weight training)
- Tai chi or yoga

Perform any exercise safely by following these tips.



Sleep hygiene

Insomnia is a common symptom of menopause, and other symptoms such as hot flashes and night sweats can also cause sleep distubances. Because sleep is essential for our body and brain to recover from daily activities, disturbances can impact quality of life and overall health.

Having good sleep hygiene can help you manage insomnia and minimize sleep disturbances. Sleep hygiene includes pre-bedtime practices that help create the most sleep-conducive environment and routine possible.



Sleep hygiene practices

Avoid or limit substance use

Substances such as alcohol, caffeine, cannabis, and nicotine are all known to disrupt sleep and should be minimized or avoided, especially close to bedtime.



Create an environment suitable for sleep

Light exposure and noise can disrupt sleep and keep you awake. Using blackout curtains, a sleep mask, or sound-masking strategies such as a white noise machine can prevent unnecessary light and noise from disrupting your sleep. Keeping your room at a comfortable temperature can also help improve sleep.



Exercise regularly

Engaging in regular physical activity can help improve your sleep. Regular exercise has been shown to improve sleep in both healthy individuals as well as those who have chronic insomnia or experience regular sleep disturbances.



Have a consistent bedtime and wake-up time

Inconsistent sleep and wake times can disrupt your circadian rhythm, the daily patterns of sleep and wakefulness in your body. Sleeping and waking at the same time everyday can therefore minimize sleep disturbances.



Minimize blue light exposure

Exposure to blue light from computers, phones, and TV screens near bedtime may prevent your body from producing adequate melatonin, a hormone that helps your body fall and stay asleep. Minimizing screen use close to bedtime or using blue-light-blocking glasses may help to minimize the effects of blue light.

Refer to the Appendix section for a sleep diary to help you track your sleep quantity, sleep quality, and other symptoms.

Mental health and stress management

During perimenopause, menopause, and post-menopause, people may experience worsening mental health or mental health issues for the first time due to fluctuating hormone levels and associated physical changes (e.g., hot flashes or trouble sleeping).

During the menopausal transition, you may experience symptoms of:

 Cognitive impairment (e.g., memory issues)

- Depression
- Anxiety

Did you know?

Individuals who experience high levels of anxiety before perimenopause are more likely to experience hot flashes during perimenopause.

Habits and practices that will help you feel your best during the menopausal transition will depend on your symptoms, unique health needs, and interests. Consider some of the following methods to help maintain strong mental health during and after the menopausal transition.

Do your best to get enough sleep. Most adults require between seven and eight hours of sleep per night.

Stay mentally active by taking a class, learning a new skill (e.g., a new language), or doing daily word puzzles.

Stay physically active by getting at least 30 minutes of exercise five to six days per week (e.g., walking, yoga, or weight lifting)

Set limits on how much you take on, and participate in activities that help you relax (e.g., reading, time outside, or meditating).



Consider joining a menopause support group. Participating in talk therapy with a qualified practitioner can also be helpful.

> Join a group (e.g., hiking club, painting club, or walking club), or volunteer for a local charity or advocacy group.

Limit how much alcohol you consume (if any). One drink per day is considered a moderate amount of alcohol; however, less is better.

Consume a healthy, balanced diet. Your healthcare provider may also recommend certain supplements.

Sexual health

During the menopausal transition, the body no longer produces the same levels of estrogen and progesterone. As these hormone levels decrease, changes such as thinning of the vaginal wall, vaginal dryness, and a loss of vaginal elasticity typically occur. These changes may also decrease desire for sex, make sex less enjoyable, or even make sex painful.

However, there are many strategies that can be implemented to maintain and improve sexual health during the menopausal period, including:

- Avoiding substances: Alcohol and recreational drugs can negativly impact how your body responds negatively to sex.
- Avoiding smoking: The chemicals found in cigarettes can make it difficult to get aroused as they can limit blood flow to the vagina and decrease the effects of estrogen.
- Engaging in foreplay: Engaging in foreplay allows more time for you to become aroused before sex. The moisture from being aroused acts as a protective barrier for vaginal tissues and makes sex more comfortable and enjoyable.
- Having sex regularly: Having sex regularly can keep the vaginal muscles healthy and strong as it increases blood flow to the area.
- **Practicing pelvic floor exercises:** Pelvic floor exercises can strengthen the muscles involved in orgasm by increasing blood flow to the vagina.
- **Staying active:** Engaging in regular physical activity can improve energy levels, mood, and self-esteem—all of which can increase your desire for sex.



Hormone replacement therapy

Menopausal hormone therapy (MHT), or hormone replacement therapy (HRT), is a treatment that involves taking hormones similar to estrogen and progesterone as tablets, gels, patches, or vaginal treatments. A healthcare provider might prescribe MHT to a menopausal person to address different biological changes that have occurred during menopause due to declining progesterone and estrogen levels (e.g., hot flashes).

MHT may improve the quality of life for menopausal people by alleviating or reducing the severity of hot flashes, night sweats, and vaginal dryness. It may also help prevent osteoporosis and improve mood and memory.

Make sure to speak with your healthcare provider when considering MHT. MHT is associated with an increased risk of different health effects such as:

- Breast cancer
- Dementia

- Stroke, blood clots, and heart attack
- Urinary incontinence

• Hip and vertebral fractures

• Vaginal bleeding

It's important to note that the risk of heart and blood vessel disease can be influenced by when MHT is first started. Studies have shown that starting MHT ten years after the onset of menopause or after the age of 60 is associated with a greater risk of heart disease. However, when MHT is started within ten years of menopause it was found to be protective.

Distinct from MHT and HRT, bioidentical hormone replacement therapy (BHRT) is defined by the Endocrine Society as compounds that have the exact molecular structure of hormones produced by the human body. However, the term bioidentical hormone does not have a standard definition, and BHRT compounds can vary depending on their source, materials, and manufacturing methods.

BHRT can be prescribed by a qualified healthcare provider to address biological changes that occur during menopause due to declining hormone levels. BHRT compounds should always be approved by your healthcare provider and local government's drug administration before use.

Note: There are currently no clear guidelines for how long a person should take MHT. Be sure to follow your healthcare provider's recommendations and schedule regular visits to monitor your health when taking hormone therapy.



Tips and resources for success

Lifestyle tips for addressing hot flashes

Hot flashes and night sweats can be uncomfortable and begin unexpectedly. Consider some of the following tips to help mitigate any discomfort during a hot flash.





Frequently asked questions (FAQs)

How do I know if I'm going through menopause?

If you're experiencing menopausal symptoms such as trouble sleeping, irregular periods, or hot flashes, speak with your heathcare provider. Tracking your menstrual period using an app or on a calendar is also helpful. Your healthcare provider may test your hormone levels using a blood test.

Should I continue to use birth control during the transition to menopause?

Because you can still get pregnant during perimenopause, you should continue to use birth control during this time if you'd like to avoid becoming pregnant. However, birth control is not recommended after menopause because the daily estrogen dose is several times higher than the minimum dose required for menopausal symptom relief.

Although you can't get pregnant after menopause, you can get a sexually transmitted infection (STI) from a partner. Certain birth control methods such as male condoms or a dental dam can be used for protection against STIs.

How can my family and friends support me throughout my transition to menopause?

It's helpful to reach out for support when you need it. Trusted family and friends can better support you if they understand what you're going through. Tell them how you've been feeling and about your symptoms, and allow them to ask questions and offer assistance.

What can I do if I'm experiencing vaginal dryness?

Menopause may lead to the vaginal tissue becoming thinner and drier, which can make intercourse painful. Consider using a water-based vaginal lubricant during intercourse if you're experiencing vaginal dryness, or speak with your healthcare provider about possible medications if the dryness is severe.

I'm not experiencing long, intense hot flashes during the menopausal transition. Is this normal?

Yes. Everyone experiences menopause differently. For some, hot flashes can be quick and mild, while for others, they can last several minutes and feel more intense.

How do I speak with my partner about menopause and intercourse?

Lower hormone levels as well as emotional (e.g., depression) and physical (e.g., hot flashes) changes may lead to you being less interested in sex. Speak with your partner about any concerns you have, what changes you may have to make to feel more comfortable during intercourse, and what feels good and what doesn't. You may also consider massage or other ways to enjoy a physical relationship.



Are there certain tests I should be getting done post-menopause?

Speak with your healthcare provider about which tests you should take. People assigned the female sex at birth who are over 50 years old may be recommended to test or have screenings for blood pressure, cholesterol levels, diabetes, breast cancer (mammogram), cervical cancer, colorectal cancer, HIV, osteoporosis, or sexually transmitted infections.

How do I know if menopause hormone therapy during the menopausal transition is right for me?

Always speak with your healthcare provider about whether MHT is right for you. This can depend on your age, menopausal stage, family history, health status, symptoms, and other factors.

How can I manage urinary incontinence?

Speak with your healthcare provider for help with a plan of action. They may recommend seeing a pelvic floor therapist who can help you strengthen your pelvic floor (muscles within the pelvis between the tailbone and the pubic bone). Training your bladder, changing your diet, quitting smoking, addressing constipation, and reducing your body mass index may also be recommended.



Menopause resources



Grocery shopping list

The <u>healthy diet grocery guide</u> includes foods that can be incorporated into a healthy, balanced diet. Always speak with your healthcare provider about your specific dietary needs. This list can be printed and used as a resource when grocery shopping.



Sleep diary

Using a <u>sleep diary</u> to track your sleep can be helpful for improving sleep quality.

Helpful apps

A mobile app can be a useful tool to use during the menopausal transition.

Managing menopausal symptoms and connecting with others



Menolife symptom tracker



Stuff that works



Stella

Mindfulness and sleep



Balance: Meditation & Sleep
App Store | Google Play



Headspace: Mindful meditation

Exercise



Down Dog: Yoga



FitOn: Workouts and fitness plans



References

- Academic Committee of the Korean Society of Menopause, Lee, S. R., Cho, M. K., Cho, Y. J., Chun, S., Hong, S. H., Hwang, K. R., Jeon, G. H., Joo, J. K., Kim, S. K., Lee, D. O., Lee, D. Y., Lee, E. S., Song, J. Y., Yi, K. W., Yun, B. H., Shin, J. H., Chae, H. D., & Kim, T. (2020). The 2020 Menopausal Hormone Therapy Guidelines. Journal of menopausal medicine, 26(2), 69–98. https://doi. org/10.6118/jmm.20000
- American Heart Association. (2015). Coronary artery disease - Coronary heart disease. https://www.heart.org/ en/health-topics/consumer-healthcare/ what-is-cardiovascular-disease/ coronary-artery-disease
- Aging changes in the female reproductive system. (2022). MedlinePlus. https:// medlineplus.gov/ency/article/004016.htm

- Avis, N., & McKinlay, S. (1991). A longitudinal analysis of women's attitudes toward the menopause: Results from the massachusetts women's health study. Maturitas, 13(1), 65–79.
- Benjamin, E. J., Muntner, P., Alonso, A., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., Carson, A. P., Chamberlain, A. M., Chang, A. R., Cheng, S., Das, S. R., Delling, F. N., Djousse, L., Elkind, M. S., Ferguson, J. F., Fornage, M., Jordan, L. C., Khan, S. S., Kissela, B. M., Knutson, K. L., . Virani, S. S. (2019). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2019 update: A report from the american heart association. Circulation, 139(10).
- Bioidentical hormone therapy. (n.d.). The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada. https:// www.menopauseandu.ca/therapies/ bioidentical-hormone-therapy/

- Boneva, R. S., Lin, J. M. S., & Unger, E. R. (2015). Early menopause and other gynecologic risk indicators for chronic fatigue syndrome in women. Menopause, 22(8), 826–834.
- Bromberger, J. T., Kravitz, H. M., Chang, Y., Randolph, J. F., Avis, N. E., Gold, E. B., & Matthews, K. A. (2013). Does risk for anxiety increase during the menopausal transition? Study of women's health across the nation. Menopause, 20(5), 488–495.
- Bryant, C., Judd, F. K., & Hickey, M. (2012). Anxiety during the menopausal transition: A systematic review. Journal of Affective Disorders, 139(2), 141–148.
- Canadian Menopause Society. (2015).
 Pocket guide menopause management.
 https://www.sigmamenopause.com/ sites/default/files/pdf/publications/Final-Pocket%20Guide.pdf
- Colditz, G. A., Willett, W. C., Stampfer, M. J., Rosner, B., Speizer, F. E., & Hennekens, C. H. (1987). Menopause and the risk of coronary heart disease in women. New England Journal of Medicine, 316(18), 1105–1110.
- Cramer, H., Peng, W., & Lauche, R. (2018). Yoga for menopausal symptoms—A systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas, 109, 13–25.
- 13. de Kruif, M., Spijker, A., & Molendijk, M. (2016). Depression during the perimenopause: A meta-analysis. Journal of Affective Disorders, 206, 174–180.

- 14. Derby, C. A., Crawford, S. L., Pasternak, R. C., Sowers, M., Sternfeld, B., & Matthews, K. A. (2009). Lipid changes during the menopause transition in relation to age and weight: The study of women's health across the nation. American Journal of Epidemiology, 169(11), 1352–1361.
- Dotlic, J., Radovanovic, S., Rancic, B., Milosevic, B., Nicevic, S., Kurtagic, I., Markovic, N., & Gazibara, T. (2020). Mental health aspect of quality of life in the menopausal transition. Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology, 42(1), 40–49.
- Early or premature menopause. (n.d.).
 Office on Women's Health. https://www. womenshealth.gov/menopause/early-orpremature-menopause
- el Khoudary, S. R., Aggarwal, B., Beckie, T. M., Hodis, H. N., Johnson, A. E., Langer, R. D., Limacher, M. C., Manson, J. E., Stefanick, M. L., & Allison, M. A. (2020). Menopause transition and cardiovascular disease risk: Implications for timing of early prevention: A scientific statement from the american heart association. Circulation, 142(25).
- el Khoudary, S. R., Greendale, G., Crawford, S. L., Avis, N. E., Brooks, M. M., Thurston, R. C., Karvonen-Gutierrez, C., Waetjen, L. E., & Matthews, K. (2019). The menopause transition and women's health at midlife. Menopause, Publish Ahead of Print, 1213–1227.

- 19. el Khoudary, S. R., & Thurston, R. C. (2018). Cardiovascular implications of the menopause transition. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America, 45(4), 641–661.
- 20. Endocrine Society. (2019). Compounded bioidentical hormone therapy. https:// www.endocrine.org/advocacy/positionstatements/compounded-bioidenticalhormone-therapy
- 21. Files, J. A., Ko, M. G., & Pruthi, S. (2011). Bioidentical hormone therapy. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 86(7), 673–680.
- 22. Food and Nutrition Technical Report Series 1. (2001). Human energy requirements. https://www.fao.org/3/ y5686e/y5686e00.htm#Contents
- Freeman, E. W., Sammel, M. D., Lin, H., Gracia, C. R., Kapoor, S., & Ferdousi, T. (2005). The role of anxiety and hormonal

changes in menopausal hot flashes. Menopause, 12(3), 258–266.

- 24. Garcia, A. N., & Salloum, I. M. (2015). Polysomnographic sleep disturbances in nicotine, caffeine, alcohol, cocaine, opioid, and cannabis use: A focused review. The American Journal on Addictions, 24(7), 590–598.
- Gracia, C. R., & Freeman, E. W. (2018).
 Onset of the Menopause Transition.
 Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America, 45(4), 585-597.
- 26. Hall, M. H., Okun, M. L., Sowers, M., Matthews, K. A., Kravitz, H. M., Hardin, K., Buysse, D. J., Bromberger, J. T., Owens, J. F., Karpov, I., & Sanders, M. H. (2012). Sleep is associated with the metabolic syndrome in a Multi-Ethnic cohort of midlife women: The SWAN sleep study. Sleep, 35(6), 783–790.



- Hodis, H. N., Collins, P., Mack, W. J., & Schierbeck, L. L. (2012). The timing hypothesis for coronary heart disease prevention with hormone therapy: past, present and future in perspective. Climacteric: The Journal of the International Menopause Society, 15(3), 217–228.https://doi.org/10.3109/136971 37.2012.656401
- 28. Imai, K., Sutton, M. Y., Mdodo, R., & del Rio, C. (2013). HIV and menopause: A systematic review of the effects of HIV infection on age at menopause and the effects of menopause on response to antiretroviral therapy. Obstetrics and Gynecology International, 2013, 1–11.
- 29. Irish, L. A., Kline, C. E., Gunn, H. E., Buysse, D. J., & Hall, M. H. (2015). The role of sleep hygiene in promoting public health: A review of empirical evidence. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 22, 23–36.
- Jackson, L. W., Cromer, B. A., & Panneerselvamm, A. (2010). Association between bone turnover, micronutrient intake, and blood lead levels in pre-and postmenopausal women, NHANES 1999–2002. Environmental Health Perspectives, 118(11), 1590–1596.
- Jaffer, S., Foulds, H. J., Parry, M., Gonsalves, C. A., Pacheco, C., Clavel, M. A., Mullen, K. A., Yip, C. Y., Mulvagh, S. L., & Norris, C. M. (2021). The canadian women's heart health alliance ATLAS on the epidemiology, diagnosis, and management of cardiovascular disease in Women—Chapter 2: Scope of the problem. CJC Open, 3(1), 1–11. Janssen, I., Powell, L. H., Matthews, K. A., Cursio, J. F., Hollenberg, S. M., Sutton-Tyrrell, K.,

Bromberger, J. T., & Everson-Rose, S. A. (2011). Depressive symptoms are related to progression of coronary calcium in midlife women: The study of women's health across the nation (SWAN) heart study. American Heart Journal, 161(6), 1186–1191.e1.

- 32. Jawabri, K. H., & R, A. (2021). Physiology, sleep patterns. StatPearls.
- 33. Kim, D. K., & Chancellor, M. B. (2006). Is estrogen for urinary incontinence good or bad? Rev Urol, 8(2), 91–92.
- 34. Kimberly, B., & James R., P. (2009).
 AMBER LENSES TO BLOCK BLUE LIGHT
 AND IMPROVE SLEEP: A RANDOMIZED
 TRIAL. Chronobiology International,
 26(8), 1602–1612.
- Lobo, R. A. (2007). Surgical menopause and cardiovascular risks. Menopause, 14(3), 562–566.
- 36. Looby, S. E., Shifren, J., Corless, I., Rope, A., Pedersen, M. C., Joffe, H., & Grinspoon, S. (2014). Increased hot flash severity and related interference in perimenopausal human immunodeficiency virus–infected women. Menopause, 21(4), 403–409.
- Mahajan, A., & Patni, R. (2018).
 Menopause and osteoarthritis: Any association ? Journal of Mid-Life Health, 9(4), 171.
- 38. Mahfoud, Y. (2009). Sleep disorders in substance abusers: How common are they? Psychiatry (Edgmont), 6(9), 38–42.
- 39. Menopausal hormone therapy and cancer. (2018). National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/ causes-prevention/risk/hormones/mhtfact-sheet

- 40. Menopause. (n.d.). MedlinePlus. https:// medlineplus.gov/ency/article/000894.htm
- 41. Menopause. (2019). U.S. Food and Drug Administration. https://www.fda.gov/ consumers/womens-health-topics/ menopause
- 42. Menopause & depression, mood changes. (n.d.). The North American Menopause Society. https://www.menopause.org/forwomen/menopauseflashes/mental-healthat-menopause/depression-menopause
- 43. Menopause and sexuality. (n.d.). Office on Women's Health. https:// www.womenshealth.gov/menopause/ menopause-and-sexuality
- 44. Menopause and your health. (2018). Office on Women's Health. https:// www.womenshealth.gov/menopause/ menopause-and-your-health
- 45. Menopause guidebook 9th edition. (n.d.). The North American Menopause Society. http://www.menopause.org/publications/ consumer-publications/-em-menopauseguidebook-em-8th-edition
- 46. Menopause symptoms and relief. (2018). Office on Women's Health. https:// www.womenshealth.gov/menopause/ menopause-symptoms-and-relief
- Mishra, N., Devanshi, & Mishra, V. (2011). Exercise beyond menopause: Dos and don'ts. Journal of Mid-Life Health, 2(2), 51–56.
- 48. Monteleone, P., Mascagni, G., Giannini, A., Genazzani, A. R., & Simoncini, T. (2018).
 Symptoms of menopause — global prevalence, physiology and implications.

Nature Reviews Endocrinology, 14(4), 199-215.

- Mosconi, L., Berti, V., Quinn, C., McHugh, P., Petrongolo, G., Varsavsky, I., Osorio, R. S., Pupi, A., Vallabhajosula, S., Isaacson, R. S., de Leon, M. J., & Brinton, R. D. (2017). Sex differences in alzheimer risk. Neurology, 89(13), 1382–1390.
- Muka, T., Oliver-Williams, C., Kunutsor, S., Laven, J. S. E., Fauser, B. C. J. M., Chowdhury, R., Kavousi, M., & Franco, O. H. (2016). Association of age at onset of menopause and time since onset of menopause with cardiovascular outcomes, intermediate vascular traits, and All-Cause mortality. JAMA Cardiology, 1(7), 767–776.
- 51. Neogi, T., & Zhang, Y. (2013). Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America, 39(1), 1–19.
- Noll, P. R. E. S., Campos, C. A. S., Leone, C., Zangirolami-Raimundo, J., Noll, M., Baracat, E. C., Júnior, J. M. S., & Sorpreso, I. C. E. (2020). Dietary intake and menopausal symptoms in postmenopausal women: A systematic review. Climacteric, 24(2), 128–138.
- 53. Oral health. (2019). Office on Women's Health. https://www.womenshealth. gov/a-z-topics/oral-health#9
- Roman-Blas, J. A., Castañeda, S., Largo, R., & Herrero-Beaumont, G. (2009).
 Osteoarthritis associated with estrogen deficiency. Arthritis Research & Therapy, 11(5), 241.

- 55. Rossouw, J. E., Prentice, R. L., Manson, J. E., Wu, L., Barad, D., Barnabei, V. M., Ko, M., LaCroix, A. Z., Margolis, K. L., & Stefanick, M. L. (2007). Postmenopausal hormone therapy and risk of cardiovascular disease by age and years since menopause. JAMA, 297(13), 1465–1477. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.297.13.1465
- 56. Sajatovic, M., Rosenthal, M., Solomon Plax, M., Meyer, M. L., & Binghsm, C. R. (2003). Mental illness and menopause: A patient and family perspective. J Gend Specif Med, 6(3), 31–40.
- Santoro, N. (2016). Perimenopause: From research to practice. Journal of Women's Health, 25(4), 332–339.
- Santoro, N., Epperson, C. N., & Mathews, S. B. (2015). Menopausal symptoms and their management. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 44(3), 497–515.
- 59. Shifren, J. L., & Gass, M. L. (2014). The north american menopause society recommendations for clinical care of midlife women. Menopause, 21(10), 1038–1062.
- 60. Sleep and your health. (2020). MedlinePlus. https://medlineplus.gov/ ency/patientinstructions/000871.htm
- 61. Smoking's impact on women's health. (n.d.). Smokefree. https://women. smokefree.gov/quit-smoking-women/ what-women-should-know/smokingsimpact-on-women
- 62. Son, M. K., Lim, N.-K., Lim, J. Y., Cho, J., Chang, Y., Ryu, S., Cho, M., & Park, H. Y. (2015). Difference in blood pressure between early and late menopausal

transition was significant in healthy korean women. BMC Women's Health.

- 63. Stojanovska, L., Apostolopoulos, V., Polman, R., & Borkoles, E. (2014). To exercise, or, not to exercise, during menopause and beyond. Maturitas, 77(4), 318–323.
- 64. The NAMS 2017 Hormone Therapy Position Statement Advisory Panel (2017). The 2017 hormone therapy position statement of The North American Menopause Society. Menopause (New York, N.Y.), 24(7), 728–753. https://doi.org/10.1097/ GME.000000000000921
- 65. The North American Menopause Society. (2013). Hormone therapy health risks and benefits. http://www.menopause.org/ docs/default-source/for-women/what_ you_should_know_about_hormone_ therapy_health-17.pdf
- 66. Unkenstein, A. E., Bryant, C. A., Judd,
 F. K., Ong, B., & Kinsella, G. J. (2016).
 Understanding women's experience of memory over the menopausal transition:
 Subjective and objective memory in pre-, peri-, and postmenopausal women.
 Menopause, 23(12), 1319–1329.
- 67. Urinary incontinence. (2019). Office on Women's Health. https://www. womenshealth.gov/a-z-topics/urinaryincontinence
- 68. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2019, February 1). Physical activity guidelines for Americans. https:// health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/ Physical_Activity_Guidelines_2nd_ edition.pdf

- Weber, M. T., Rubin, L. H., & Maki, P. M. (2013). Cognition in perimenopause. Menopause, 20(5), 511–517.
- 70. What is cardiovascular disease? (2021). Www.Heart.Org. https://www.heart.org/ en/health-topics/consumer-healthcare/ what-is-cardiovascular-disease
- 71. What is menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) and is it safe? australasian

menopause society. (2019). Australian Menopause Society. https://www. menopause.org.au/health-info/factsheets/what-is-menopausal-hormonetherapy-mht-and-is-it-safe

72. What is menopause? (2021). National Institute on Aging. https://www.nia.nih. gov/health/what-menopause

W Fullscript

For more educational content and resources: www.fullscript.com/learn



This handout was developed and medically reviewed by Fullscript's Integrative Medical Advisory team. *These statements have not been evaluated by the Food and Drug Administration. This information is not intended to diagnose, treat, cure, or prevent any disease.

Updated: February 2023

